ORIGINAL

SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA APR 22 1999 COURT

Chief Deputy Cierk

FILED

TESSANN SWARTZ,

CASE NO: 94,489

Petitioner,

CLAIM NO: 265-35-3261

٧.

D/A:

3/1/96

MCDONALD'S CORPORATION and CORPORATE SYSTEMS,

Respondents.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ALFRED J. HILADO, ESQ. P.O. Box 944 Orlando, FL 32802 Counsel for Petitioner BILL MCCABE, ESQ. 1450 West SR 434, #200 Longwood, FL 32750 Co-Counsel for Petitioner

This is a Petition for Discretionary Review from an Order of the First District Court of Appeal, Tallahassee, Florida, Opinion filed 11/12/98.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Petitioner, TESSANN SWARTZ, shall be referred to herein as "claimant"

The Respondents, MCDONALD'S CORPORATION AND CORPORATE SYSTEMS, shall be referred to herein as "E/C" or by their separate names.

The Judge of Compensation Claims shall be referred to herein as the \T JCC".

References to the Record on Appeal shall be abbreviated by the letter \V'' and followed-by the applicable volume and page number.

References to the Appendix attached hereto shall be referred to by the letter "A" and followed by the applicable appendix page number. The Appendix contains the Order of the JCC dated 6/30/97 and the Opinion filed by the First District Court of Appeal on 11/12/98.

CERTIFICATE OF TYPE

This Brief is typed in Courier New, 12 pt.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On 9/19/96 and again on 2/12/97, claimant, TESSANN SWARTZ, filed a Petition for Benefits ("PFB") seeking various indemnity (temporary disability) benefits and medical benefits for injuries sustained in an accident on 3/1/96 (V2-204-206, On 4/23/97, a hearing on the aforementioned PFB was held before the Honorable JCC Joseph Murphy (V1-1). At that hearing, claimant sought, inter alia, determination of the compensability of the claimed accident and injuries (V2-220, V4-618-619). E/C defended the claim on the grounds that, inter alia, claimant did not sustain a compensable accident, and her injuries did not arise out of and in the course and scope of her employment (V2-221, **V4-619**, 620).

On 6/30/97, the JCC entered his Compensation Order (A-1-12, V4-618-629). In that Order, the JCC found that claimant was not involved in a compensable accident on 3/1/96 (A-10, V4-627), and that her claim was barred by the "Going and Coming Rule", F.S. 440.092(2), as amended in 1994 (A-10, V4-627).

Based on the foregoing, the JCC Ordered that claimant's claim for benefits under the workers' compensation laws of the State of Florida were denied and dismissed (V4-628, A-11).

Thereafter, claimant appealed the JCC's decision to the First DCA (V4-630-631). On 11/12/98, the First DCA, in a 2 to 1 decision (with written dissent), affirmed the JCC's Order (A-13-

- 26), Swartz v. McDonald's Corporation, 23 FLW D2521 (Fla. 1^{st} DCA
- 1998). In affirming the JCC's Order, the First DCA held:
 - * ... We disagree with claimant that her drive the evening of March 1 was compensable because it had dual purposes, a business one as well as the personal one of commuting home from work ..." (A-19), Swartz, supra at D2522.

The First DCA further found:

"In the instant case, the claimant failed to establish that she was performing a necessary or essential part of her service to her employer by carrying the job fair booth home with her the evening of March 1 ... Merely carrying paraphernalia or tools of her employment does not convert the claimant's trip from personal to employment travel." (A-21), Swartz, supra at D2523.

The Honorable Judge Benton, in his dissenting opinion, found:

'The trip Ms. Swartz was making at the time of the accident had two purposes. She was going home (although she had not yet deviated from the route that led to the job fair), at the same time that she was performing her job by transporting part of the booth." (A-24), Swartz, supra, Benton, J., dissenting at D2523-2524.

Judge Benton further stated:

"Our Supreme Court has said that, "It is not necessary that the dominant purpose of a trip be business. All that need be determined is that an injury occurred as the result of a trip, a concurrent cause of which was a business purpose" ... Because today's decision conflicts with these controlling precedents, I respectfully dissent." (A-26), Swartz, supra at D2524.

Thereafter, claimant filed a Notice to Invoke Discretionary

Jurisdiction of this Honorable Court alleging that the decision

of the First DCA conflicts with this Court's decision of Nikko

Gold Coast Cruises v. Gulliford, 448 So.2d 1002 (Fla. 1984) and Cook v. Highway Casualty Co., 82 So.2d 679 (Fla. 1955).

On 3/26/99, this court entered an Order accepting jurisdiction. In that Order, this Court directed that claimant's Initial Brief on the Merits be served on or before 4/20/99. Claimant herein filed her Initial Brief on the Merits in conformity with this Court's Order of 3/26/99.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Claimant was born on 4/14/58 (V1-11) and as such, was 37 years old at the time of her hearing on 4/23/97 (V1-11).

Claimant began working for McDonald's when she was 15 years old (V1-12), as a crew person, but after 12 years, obtained a supervisor's job (V1-12).

Claimant lived in Orlando (V1-10-11, 65). Beginning in 12/95, claimant began working for McDonald's as a human resources consultant (V1-11). McDonald's HR office was in Tampa (V1-12, 65-67, V3-458, 462), but claimant continued to live in Orlando, where she was living through the date of her accident on 3/1/96 (V1-10-11, 65).

Part of claimant's job as a HR consultant was recruiting management personnel for McDonald's (Vl-13-14, 139-140, V3-460). The job requires a lot of travel, some of which is travel to attend job fairs (Vl-13-14).

Claimant testified that there were two HR consultants in her region, her and Barbara Lenko (Vl-16). Claimant's supervisor was Carolyn Jones (Vl-14-15). Claimant's region covered South Florida to Macon, GA (Vl-14-15). She had no definite hours of employment (Vl-17).

Claimant further testified that as a HR consultant, she was not required to physically come in to the Tampa location as part of her job duties (Vl-2l-22). If, for example, she had a class scheduled out of the Tampa area, she could just commute directly to the site (Vl-21).

Barbara Lenko was also a HR consultant out of the Tampa office (V1-137). Ms. Lenko testified that claimant was a coemployee with her on 3/1/96 (V1-138) and confirmed that Carolyn Jones was her and claimant's boss (V1-139). Jill Wolf was an assistant in the HR department (V1-139, 168-169).

Ms. Lenko confirmed that the duties of a HR consultant included interviewing, hiring and recruiting management personnel for McDonald's (V1-139-140). Ms. Lenko also confirmed that some of the duties were performed out of the Tampa office and some were performed in the Tampa office (V1-140). In an average week, the HR consultant would spend about 3 days at the regional office and 2 days out in the field (V1-140). When travelling, the HR utilized a company car and McDonald's paid for gas also (V1-140-141). If nothing was planned outside the

Tampa office, the HR would report to the Tampa office (V1-141). The normal hours of operation at that office were from 8:30 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. (V1-141).

Claimant was being trained as an HR as of 3/1/96 to do the same thing as Ms. Lenko (Vl-141). Involved in claimant's training was following Ms. Lenko around to the various functions (V1-141). Ms. Lenko confirmed that traveling was part of the job (V1-151), and also that she would go straight to the site rather than to the Tampa office if appropriate (Vl-152). The job is not a 9 to 5 job (V1-153), and the HR is not required to check in with Tampa every day (Vl-153).

Carolyn Jones was the HR manager (V3-457). Ms. Jones testified that claimant was training to be an HR (V3-460). Ms. Jones confirmed that the HR is responsible for recruitment and staffing for the salaried manager and employees at McDonald's (V3-460). They are responsible for employee relations activities and to conduct some training classes as relates to HR issues (V3-460).

Ms. Jones confirmed that the HR consultants were home based in Tampa (V3-462). While in training, Ms. Jones estimated that 70% to 75% of claimant's time was spent in the HR office in Tampa, and 25% was outside of the office (V3-463). When someone becomes a full-fledged HR consultant, such as Ms. Lenko, that percentage would change and you would be in a field about 75% of

the time and in the office 25% of the time (V3-463). Ms. Jones testified that claimant was still in training as of 3/1/96 (V3-484).

Jill Wolf also worked in the HR department and was a HR coordinator (V1-168-169). Ms. Wolf's job was to support the HR manager, Ms. Jones, and the HR consultants, Ms. Lenko and claimant (V1-168-169).

On Friday, 3/1/96, there was a regional meeting in Tampa (Vl-24-25). The meeting was scheduled by the regional vice president (Vl-25). Claimant testified that she was expected to attend that meeting and, in fact, there would be repercussions if she did not attend (Vl-26-27). On 3/1/96, claimant left her home in Orlando and drove to Tampa for the meeting (Vl-24-25). She testified that she stayed for the entire meeting (Vl-27).

On 3/4/96, claimant and Ms. Lenko were scheduled to attend a job fair on International Drive in Orlando (Vl-28-29). Following the meeting in Tampa and before leaving for Orlando, claimant checked her voice mail, got some short term disability paperwork that she was going to deliver to a Gail Cook in Orlando, and spoke with Ms. Lenko concerning the job fair in Orlando that following Monday (Vl-27-28).

When attending a job fair, an HR consultant will set up a job fair booth (V1-32, V3-505). There are thingswhich identify McDonald's on the booth (V1-32). The booth is kept in the

stockroom in Tampa at the regional office (Vl-34, 165-166). It is unrefuted that transporting the job fair booth from Tampa to the site of the job fair is the responsibility of the HR consultant (Vl-33-34, 156, 189, V3-504-505). The recruitment booth is in two boxes and will not fit in one car (Vl-30-31, 144, 156).

At the conclusion of the regional meeting in Tampa on 3/1/96, claimant and Ms. Lenko loaded a part of a job fair booth into claimant's vehicle, along with some recruitment information for the job fair to be held in Orlando on 3/4/96 (V1-28, 30-31, 144, 156). Claimant put part of the recruitment booth in her back seat because it fit in her back seat and not in Ms. Lenko's car (V1-30-31). Claimant explained that it would not have been possible to put all of the booth in one car and that they needed two cars (V1-30-31).

Claimant testified that the booth is needed and used at a job fair because that is where the brand identity comes from an employment standpoint (V1-31-32). There are things identifying McDonald's on the booth (V1-32). Additionally, once the display booth is opened up, they put a back-drop to it with pictures of employees and managers who are working in the restaurants who have been recruited, and there is also a name across the top of it (V1-32).

Claimant testified that it is the responsibility associated with a HR consultant to get the booth to the job fair (V1-33-34). There were no alternative plans to get the booth to Orlando for the job fair (V1-33-34). Claimant testified that the booth is kept in the stockroom in Tampa at the regional office and in order for claimant to bring the booth to any job fair, she would have to go to Tampa to pick up the booth, unless she was picking it up from another consultant (V1-34). Claimant explained that there had been no arrangements for anyone else to bring the booth to Orlando and claimant was expected to bring the booth to Orlando (V1-34-35).

Ms. Lenko also attended the regional meeting on 3/1/96 in Tampa (V1-142-143). Ms. Lenko testified that the meeting ended at approximately 3:50 p.m. (V1-143). She confirmed that there was a job fair scheduled in Orlando at the Holiday Inn off of International Drive on Monday, 3/4/96 (V1-144). Ms. Lenko confirmed that the HR consultants are required to bring materials to the job fair and claimant and Ms. Lenko had a conversation concerning who would bring what materials (V1-144). Ms. Lenko explained that the recruitment booth is in two boxes, one fits in the back seat and was put in claimant's car, and one was put in Ms. Lenko's car (V1-144). Ms. Lenko also stated that they had a black bag, like a briefcase, that they keep with hand-outs, flyers and business cards, and everything was in one

bag and it was either in Ms. Lenko's car or claimant's car (V1-144). Ms. Lenko confirmed that all of the materials would not fit in her car and she needed claimant's assistance in order to get the booth to Orlando for the job fair (V1-156). Ms. Lenko also confirmed that it was part of their job as HR consultants to make sure the materials they need for the job fair are with them (V1-156). Ms. Lenko also confirmed that McDonald's owns the recruitment booth and it is stored in the stockroom in Tampa (V1-165-166).

Jill Wolf confirmed that transporting the recruitment booth was part of claimant's job (Vl-189).

Ms. Jones, the HR manager, also confirmed that when claimant was transporting the booth on 3/1/96, it was part of her job (V3-504-505). Ms. Jones testified that whomever was doing the job fairs would carry the booth (V3-504-505). Ms. Jones also testified that the job fairs typically require set-up of the booth (V3-505).

After claimant had loaded the recruitment booth in her car, she left the Tampa office and started driving to Orlando, at which time she was rear-ended on I-4 and I-275 in Tampa (Vl-35, 86), around 5:30 p.m. (Vl-86).

Claimant testified that following the accident, she contacted Elaine Anderson, fleet manager, while she was still at

the site (V1-36). Claimant testified that she advised Ms. Anderson that she was involved in an auto accident (V1-36).

Ms. Anderson confirmed that claimant called her between 5:00 and 6:00 p.m. on 3/1/96 advising that she was involved in an accident on I-4 (V3-439).

Claimant testified that she also attempted to call Ms. Jones, but the switchboard had closed (V1-36). When she got home, she voice-mailed Ms. Jones (V1-36-37).

Ms. Jones confirmed that on 3/1/96, she got a voice mail message that she picked up at some time before 9:00 p.m. indicating that claimant, while enroute, had been involved in an industrial accident (V3-471-472).

Following her accident, claimant did go home, then went to the ER (Vl-44). At the hospital, claimant was given x-rays, physical exam, a few injections and a Velcro neck collar (Vl-45). She was sent home and asked to follow up with her family care physician (Vl-45).

Claimant returned to work that Monday, 3/4/96, at which time she went to the job fair (Vl-54).

Ms. Lenko confirmed that claimant did meet her at the job fair on 3/4/96 (V3-147). Claimant brought in her part of the booth; Ms. Lenko brought in her part of the booth; they assembled the booth; put the printed materials on the

background, and set up the table with the paperwork they needed to distribute (Vl-147).

Claimant was also seen by Dr. Bonnie Dean, family practice physician, on 3/4/96 (V2-229, 272, V3-401). On that date, claimant was complaining of aching in the neck and low back, secondary to an auto accident on 3/1/96, when she was rear-ended by several cars going about 55 mph as she was stopped for an accident on I-4 (V2-230-233, V3-401). Claimant's chief complaint was pain in the neck and low back area (V3-401). She also had paresthesia of 3, 4 and 5 (V3-401).

Beginning on 5/20/96, Dr. Dean opined that claimant could not continue to drive, due to injuries sustained in the industrial accident (V2-249, 274, V3-408). Dr. Dean also opined that claimant could not undertake any prolonged sitting (V2-249).

Claimant continued to work for McDonald's until 6/7/96, at which time she resigned (V1-54-55, 98, V3-473, 478-479). Claimant testified that she resigned because she had been taken off work because of the physical situation she was going through from going into spasms, fainting and passing out problems with headaches and she could not tolerate the travel necessary for her job any more (V1-55, 98).

A more specific reference to facts will be made during Argument.

POINTS ON APPEAL

Ι

THE JCC ERRED, AND THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED, IN FINDING THAT CLAIMANT'S INJURIES ARE NOT COMPENSABLE BASED ON THE "GOING AND COMING RULE", WHEN A CONCURRENT CAUSE OF CLAIMANT'S TRIP FROM TAMPA TO ORLANDO ON THE EVENING IN QUESTION WAS A BUSINESS PURPOSE, TO-WIT: TO TRANSPORT A RECRUITMENT BOOTH TO ORLANDO FOR A JOB FAIR TO COMMENCE IN ORLANDO THE FOLLOWING MONDAY, AND THEREFORE, CLAIMANT'S INJURY IS COMPENSABLE UNDER THE "DUEL PURPOSE DOCTRINE".

ΤT

THE JCC ERRED IN DENYING AND DISMISSING CLAIMANT'S PETITION FOR BENEFITS AND IN DENYING CLAIMANT'S CLAIM FOR INDEMNITY BENEFITS, MEDICAL BENEFITS, PENALTIES, INTEREST, COSTS AND ATTORNEY'S FEES.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Ι

 $\underline{\text{F.S.}}$ 440.092(2)(1995), which is the statute involved in this case, provides:

"Going or Coming — An injury suffered by going to or coming from work is not an injury arising out of and in the course of employment whether or not the employer provided transportation, if such means of transportation was available for the exclusive personal use by the employee, unless the employee was engaged in a special errand or mission for the employer."

This statute, in essence, is a codification of the longstanding *Going and Coming Rule" in workers' compensation cases. It also, however, clearly retains the dual-purpose doctrine, which is one of the exceptions to the "Going and Coming Rule".

The dual purpose doctrine provides that an injury which occurs as the result of a trip, a concurrent cause of which was

a business purpose, is within the course and scope of employment, even if the trip also served a personal purpose, such as and including going to and coming from work, Nikko Gold Coast Cruises v. Gulliford, 448 So.2d 1002 (Fla. 1984). Further, the Courts do not weigh the relative importance of the personal motive versus the business motive, Spartan Food Systems v. Hopkins, 525 So.2d 987 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988). So long as the business purpose is at least a concurrent cause of the trip, any injury which occurs during the trip is compensable, Gulliford, supra.

Tt. is unrefuted that claimant had to deliver recruitment booth to Orlando for the job fair on 3/4/96. In other words, claimant would have had to make a trip to Tampa to transport the recruitment booth back to Orlando on 3/1/96, even if there was not a regional meeting in Tampa on that date. Alternatively, if claimant did not transport the recruitment booth from Tampa to Orlando for the job fair on 3/4/96, someone else would have had to pick up the booth and transport it to Orlando for claimant. For this reason, claimant's during the trip from Tampa to Orlando on 3/1/96 are compensable, Gulliford, supra.

ΙI

The sole basis of the JCC's order denying and dismissing claimant's PFB is the JCC's finding that claimant's accident is

not compensable based on the "Going and Coming Rule". Claimant submits that the JCC erred in finding that claimant's injuries are not compensable based on the "Going and Coming Rule", and claimant adopts and realleges the arguments set forth under Point I.

Since the JCC erred in finding that claimant's injuries are barred by the "Going and Coming Rule", the JCC also erred in denying and dismissing claimant's PFB, and in denying claimant's claim for indemnity benefits, medical benefits, penalties, interest, costs and attorney's fees.

ARGUMENT

Ι

THE JCC ERRED, AND THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED, IN FINDING THAT CLAIMANT'S INJURIES ARE NOT COMPENSABLE BASED ON THE "GOING AND COMING RULE", WHEN A CONCURRENT CAUSE OF CLAIMANT'S TRIP FROM TAMPA TO ORLANDO ON THE EVENING IN QUESTION WAS A BUSINESS PURPOSE, TO-WIT: TO TRANSPORT A RECRUITMENT BOOTH TO ORLANDO FOR A JOB FAIR TO COMMENCE IN ORLANDO THE FOLLOWING MONDAY, AND THEREFORE, CLAIMANT'S INJURY IS COMPENSABLE UNDER THE "DUEL PURPOSE DOCTRINE".

The JCC, in his Order of 6/30/97, found:

"It is the finding of the undersigned that the claimant was not involved in a compensable accident on March 1, $_{1996}$. In reaching this conclusion, it is found that the claims are barred by operation of the **Going** and Coming Rule" as found in F.S. 440.092(2), as amended 1994.

The fact that the claimant had a booth in the back of her car on the date of accident which she intended to use the following Monday in Orlando does not turn this otherwise non-compensable going and coming case into a compensable event. The claimant made no special trip to Tampa to secure this "tool". At the time of the claimant's accident, she was on a journey which was regular and

frequent and was not prompted by any sudden call by her The burden of placing a tool in her car to transport with her for use in her job the following Monday was minor when viewed in context of the claimant's usual The fact is abundantly clear that duties and route home. at the time of the accident, the claimant was off work and not engaged in any employment-related duty nor was she on any employer-requested errand. The accident and injury sustained therein were personal to the claimant and occurred at a time when claimant was returning home her usual, normal, and customary place of employment." (V4-627-628).

The First DCA, in its opinion of 11/12/98, affirming the JCC's Order of 6/30/97, held:

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