SUPREME COURT

STATE OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

TESSANN SWARTZ,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO: 94,489 CLAIM NO: D/A:

265-35-3261 3/1/96

MCDONALD'S CORPORATION AND CORPORATE SYSTEMS,

_____/

Respondents.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

ALFRED J. HILADO, ESQ. P.O. Box 944 Orlando, FL 32802 Counsel for Petitioner

BILL MCCABE, ESQ. 1450 West SR 434, #200 Longwood, FL 32750 Co-Counsel for Petitioner

This is a Petition for Discretionary Review from an order of the First District Court of Appeal, Tallahassee, FL, Opinion filed 11/12/98.

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Ι

F.S. 440.092(2)(1995), which is the statute involved in this

case, provides:

"Going or Coming - An injury suffered by going to or coming from work is not an injury arising out of and in the course of employment whether or not the employer provided transportation, if such means of transportation was available for the exclusive personal use by the employee, **unless the employee was engaged in a special errand or mission for the employer.**"

This statute, in essence, is a codification of the longstanding "Going and Coming Rule" in workers' compensation cases. It also, however, clearly retains the dual-purpose doctrine, which is one of the exceptions to the "Going and Coming Rule".

The dual purpose doctrine provides that an injury which occurs as the result of a trip, a concurrent cause of which was a business purpose, is within the course and scope of employment, even if the trip also served a personal purpose, such as and including going to and coming from work, <u>Nikko Gold Coast Cruises v. Gulliford</u>, 448 So.2d 1002 (Fla. 1984). Further, the Courts do not weigh the relative importance of the personal motive versus the business motive, <u>Spartan Food Systems v. Hopkins</u>, 525 So.2d 987 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988). So long as the business purpose is at least a concurrent cause of the trip, any injury which occurs during the trip is compensable, <u>Gulliford</u>, supra.

It is unrefuted that claimant had to deliver the recruitment booth to Orlando for the job fair on 3/4/96. In other words, claimant would have had to make a trip to Tampa to transport the recruitment booth back to Orlando on 3/1/96, even if there was not a regional meeting in Tampa on that date. Alternatively, if claimant did not transport the recruitment booth from Tampa to Orlando for the job fair on 3/4/96, someone else would have had to pick up the booth and transport it to Orlando for claimant. For this reason, claimant's injuries during the trip from Tampa to Orlando on 3/1/96 are compensable, <u>Gulliford</u>, supra.

ΙI

The sole basis of the JCC's order denying and dismissing claimant's PFB is the JCC's finding that claimant's accident is not compensable based on the "Going and Coming Rule". Claimant submits that the JCC erred in finding that claimant's injuries are not compensable based on the "Going and Coming Rule", and claimant adopts and realleges the arguments set forth under Point I.

Since the JCC erred in finding that claimant's injuries are

barred by the "Going and Coming Rule", the JCC also erred in denying and dismissing claimant's PFB, and in denying claimant's

claim for indemnity benefits, medical benefits, penalties,

interest, costs and attorney's fees.

ARGUMENT

Ι

THE JCC ERRED, AND THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED, IN FINDING THAT CLAIMANT'S INJURIES ARE NOT COMPENSABLE BASED ON THE "GOING AND COMING RULE", WHEN A CONCURRENT CAUSE OF CLAIMANT'S TRIP FROM TAMPA TO ORLANDO ON THE EVENING IN QUESTION WAS A BUSINESS PURPOSE, TO-WIT: TO TRANSPORT A RECRUITMENT BOOTH TO ORLANDO FOR A JOB FAIR TO COMMENCE IN ORLANDO THE FOLLOWING MONDAY, AND THEREFORE, CLAIMANT'S INJURY IS COMPENSABLE UNDER THE "DUAL PURPOSE DOCTRINE".

The JCC, in his Order of 6/30/97, found:

"It is the finding of the undersigned that the claimant was not involved in a compensable accident on March 1, 1996. In reaching this conclusion, it is found that the claims are barred by operation of the "Going and Coming Rule" as found in <u>F.S.</u> 440.092(2), as amended 1994 ...

The fact that the claimant had a booth in the back of her car on the date of accident which she intended to use the following Monday in Orlando does not turn this otherwise non-compensable going and coming case into a compensable event. The claimant made no special trip to Tampa to secure this "tool". At the time of the claimant's accident, she was on a journey which was regular and frequent and was not prompted by any sudden call by her employer. The burden of placing a tool in her car to transport with her for use in her job the following Monday was minor when viewed in context of the claimant's usual duties and route home. The fact is abundantly clear that at the time of the accident, the claimant was off work and not engaged in any employment-related duty nor was she on any employer-requested errand. The accident and injury

xix

sustained therein were personal to the claimant and occurred at a time when claimant was returning home from her usual, normal, and customary place of employment." (V4-627-628).

The First DCA, in its opinion of 11/12/98, affirming the JCC's Order of 6/30/97, held:

" ... We disagree with claimant that her drive the evening of March 1 was compensable because it had dual purposes, a business one as well as the personal one of commuting home from work ..." (A-19).

The First DCA further found:

"In the instant case, the claimant failed to establish that she was performing a necessary or essential part of her service to her employer by carrying the job fair booth home with her the evening of March 1. ... Merely carrying paraphernalia or tools of her employment does not convert the claimant's trip from personal to employment travel." (A-21).

Claimant submits that the JCC's finding that the claim is barred by the "Going and Coming Rule" and the First DCA's affirmance of that finding is error and should be reversed. From a factual standpoint, the JCC has erred in finding that at the time of the accident, claimant was off work and not engaged in any employment related duty, nor was she on any employer requested errand, since the unrefuted evidence establishes otherwise.

Furthermore, both the JCC and the First DCA, in upholding the JCC, have erred in denying compensability of claimant's claim based on the dual-purpose doctrine.

If a claimant is not yet at work, or if she has completed work, injuries occurring while claimant is going to or coming from work are generally not compensable, Bechtel Construction v. Lehning,

XX

684 So.2d 334 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996), <u>Securex v. Couto</u>, 627 So.2d 595 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993), <u>F.S.</u> 440.092(2)(1995). This is referred to as the "Going and Coming Rule". Specifically, the "Going and Coming Rule" provides that injuries sustained by an employee going to or coming from work are not compensable, Bechtel v.

Lehning, supra.

As part of the massive legislative changes to the Florida Workers' Compensation Law in 1990, the aforesaid "Going and

Coming Rule" was codified effective 8/1/90. <u>F.S.</u> 440.092(2)(1995) (which has identical language to the initial

statute, <u>F.S.</u> 440.092(2)(1990)) provides as follows:

"GOING OR COMING - An injury suffered by going to or coming from work is not an injury arising out of and in the course of employment whether or not the employer provided transportation if such means of transportation was available for the exclusive personal use by the employee, unless the <u>employee</u> was engaged in a special errand or mission for the employer."

The "Going and Coming Rule" applies in general to employees who have fairly regular or fixed hours of work, when going to or coming from their regular place of work, <u>Advanced Diagnostics v.</u> <u>Walsh</u>, 437 so.2d 778 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983), <u>Johnson v. Metropolitan</u> <u>Dade Co.</u>, 424 So.2d 911 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982), <u>George v. Woodville</u> <u>Lumber Co.</u>, 382 So.2d 802 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980), <u>Bowen v. Keen</u>, 17

So.2d 706 (Fla. 1944).

There are numerous exceptions to the "Going and Coming Rule". One of those exceptions, which applies in the case at bar, is known as the dual-purpose doctrine. The dual purpose doctrine

xxi

provides that an injury which occurs as the result of a trip, a concurrent cause of which was a business purpose, is within the course and scope of employment, even if the trip also served a personal purpose, such as, and including, going to and coming from work, <u>Gulliford</u>, supra. Further, the courts do not weigh the relative importance of the personal motive versus the business motive, <u>Spartan Food v. Hopkins</u>, supra, <u>Gulliford</u>,

supra.

The "Going and Coming Rule" as set forth in <u>F.S.</u> 440.092(2)(1995) does not in any way abolish the dual-purpose doctrine. <u>F.S.</u> 440.092(2)(1995) speaks only to the employer provided transportation rule as set forth in such cases as <u>Povia Bros.</u> <u>Farms v. Velez</u>, 74 So.2d 103 (Fla. 1954), <u>Dunham v. Olsten</u> <u>Quality Care</u>, 667 So.2d 948 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996), <u>Kash n' Karry v.</u> <u>Johnson</u>, 617 So.2d 791 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993). As stated by the First DCA in both <u>Dunham</u>, supra, and <u>Johnson</u>, supra, if the Legislature wanted to eliminate such rules as the hazard rule, the bunkhouse rule, premises rule (and claimant would submit, the dual purpose doctrine), the Legislature could have done so as it did in part to the traveling employee rule when it passed <u>F.S.</u> 440.092(4)(1994), see e.g., <u>American Airlines v. Lefevers</u>, 674 So.2d 940 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996), <u>Dunham</u>, supra, <u>Johnson</u>, supra.

For example, the First DCA held in <u>Lefevers</u>, supra, that the personal comfort doctrine and bunkhouse rule still applies. In <u>Perez v. Publix Supermarkets</u>, 673 So.2d 938 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996),

xxii

the First DCA held that the premises rule still applied. In

Johnson, supra, the First DCA held that the hazard rule still

applied.

As noted hereinabove, <u>F.S.</u> 440.092(2)(1995) specifically provides

that the "Going and Coming Rule" does not apply if the employee

was

" ... engaged in a special errand or mission for the employer."

See also, <u>Hages v. Hughes Electric Service</u>, 654 So.2d 1280 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995); <u>Securex, Inc. v. Couto</u>, 627 So.2d 595 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993).

It is clear that this language retains, as an exception to the "Going and Coming Rule", the dual-purpose doctrine. The dual purpose doctrine finds its roots in an opinion written by the esteemed Justice Cardozo, wherein it was determined that an employee may be exempted from the going and coming rule if he

is injured on a trip that serves both a business and personal

purpose, Mark's Dependants v. Gray, 167 N.E. 181 (NY 1929).

Florida adopted this rule of law in <u>Cook v. Highway Casualty Co.</u>, 82 So.2d 679 (Fla. 1955) and the rule has been applied numerous times since, including in <u>Tampa Airport Hilton v. Hawkins</u>, 557 So.2d 953 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), <u>Spartan Foods v. Hopkins</u>, supra, Nikko v<u>. Gulliford</u>, supra, <u>Krause v. West Lumber Co.</u>, 227 So.2d

486 (Fla. 1969). Both the First DCA and this Honorable Court

have held that no nice inquiry will be made to determine the relative importance of a concurrent business and personal motive for the trip, and so long as the business purpose is at least a concurrent cause of the trip, the employer may be held liable for

xxiii

workers' compensation, Spartan Foods v. Hopkins, supra, Nikko v.

<u>Gulliford</u>, supra.

The rule applies even in instances where the claimant is going to or coming from work, as affirmed by this Court in <u>Gulliford</u>, supra. In <u>Gulliford v. Nikko Gold Coast Cruises</u>, 423 So.2d 588 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982), the First DCA, relying upon Prof. Larson,

explained the doctrine by noting

"Injury during a trip which serves both a business and a personal purpose is within the course of employment if the trip involves the performance of a service for the employer which would have caused the trip to be taken by someone even if it had not coincided with the personal journey. This principle applies to out of town trips, **to trips to and from work**, and to miscellaneous errands such as visits to bars or restaurants motivated in part by an intention to transact business there." <u>Gulliford</u>, supra at 589.

Concerning carrying employment impediments to and from work, the First DCA, in <u>Gulliford v. Nikko Gold Coast Cruises</u>, 423 So.2d 588 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982) again quoting from Prof. Larson, stated

" ... If it can be said that the transporting of the employment materials amounted to the performing of a business service of sufficient dimensions to bring it within the basic dual purpose rule, in the sense that if the employee could not have combined this service with his going or coming trip, a special trip would have had to be made to accomplish the same business objective, the journey may be within the course of employment." <u>Gulliford</u>, supra at 590.

This Court in <u>Nikko Gold Coast Cruises v. Gulliford</u>, 448 So.2d 1002 (Fla. 1984) affirmed the First DCA's decision in Gulliford

<u>v. Nikko Gold Coast</u>, 423 So.2d 588 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982).

This Court's decision in Nikko Gold Coast Cruises v. Gulliford,

448 So.2d 1002 (Fla. 1984) is applicable to the case at bar.

Another case applicable to the case at bar is the case of <u>Spartan</u> <u>Foods v. Hopkins</u>, supra, wherein the claimant sustained injuries when she was involved in a vehicular accident while traveling to work at a Hardee's Restaurant owned by the employer in Pensacola. Claimant was assigned to this restaurant with a reporting time of

8:00 a.m., and on the day of the accident, had received a telephone call from her supervisor asking her to stop at a Hardee's in Milton to obtain extra beverage cups which she could bring with her when she arrived at work. Hopkins left home approximately 35 minutes earlier than usual, and the trip to Milton required her to deviate from her usual route to work. Hopkins traveled to Milton and obtained the cups as requested;

thereafter, returning to her normal route which she usually travels to work, when her vehicle was rear-ended while she was

stopped in traffic on the interstate.

In affirming the JCC's finding of compensability, the First DCA

held:

"Although claimant had returned to her usual route to work at the time of her accident, this circumstance does not negate the errand for her employer. When a trip is made for both a business and a personal motive, it is deemed to be an employment activity for workers' compensation purposes ... These cases indicate that no inquiry was made as to the relative importance of either the business or personal motive beyond a determination that the business purpose would have required a trip even had the private purpose not existed ... In the present case, claimant's supervisor testified that it was essential that the extra cups be obtained for the morning shift, and that if claimant had not performed this task, someone else would have had to be dispatched for the supplies. Claimant's special errand thus remained a concurrent cause of her trip even after she resumed her normal route to work, so as to render the journey an activity within the course

xxv

of her employment excepted from the going and coming rule in accordance with <u>Gulliford</u>." <u>Spartan Foods v. Hopkins</u>, supra at 989.

This is the very factual basis which brings claimant's claim herein within the dual-purpose exception to the "Going and Coming Rule".

IF THE CLAIMANT HAD NOT TRANSPORTED THE JOB FAIR BOOTH, SOMEONE ELSE WOULD HAVE HAD TO HAVE BEEN DISPATCHED TO TRANSPORT IT.

The Honorable Judge Benton, in his dissenting opinion in Swartz,

supra, quoting from Arthur Larson's Treaties on Workers'

Compensation Law, stated as follows:

"It is not necessary, under (the dual purpose doctrine) that, on failure of the personal motive, the business trip would have been taken by this particular employee at this particular time. It is enough that someone, sometime, would have had to take the trip to carry out the business mission. Perhaps another employee would have done it; perhaps another time would have been chosen; but, if a special trip would have had to be made for this purpose, and if the employer got the necessary item of travel accomplished by combining it with this employee's personal trip, it is accurate to say that it was a concurrent cause of the trip, rather than an incidental appendage or afterthought." (A-25), <u>Swartz</u>, supra at 2524, 1 Arthur Larson and Lex K. Larson, <u>Larson's Workers'</u> Compensation Law, Sec. 18.13 at 4-368 To 69 (1997).

As Judge Benton further noted in his dissenting opinion:

"Ms. Swartz might have stayed the weekend in Tampa and driven directly to the job fair on Monday. But she or someone else "sometime would have had to take the trip" to transport her half of the booth to the job fair. McDonald's policies dictated that the booth be at the job fair and created the need for the trip." (A-25), <u>Swartz</u>, supra at D2524.

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